# **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Xiaoyue Zhang

May 1, 2021

Assessment on metabolic perturbations associated with maternal exposure to phthalates among pregnant African American women

By

Xiaoyue Zhang MPH

Gangarose Department of Environmental Health

Donghai Liang, PhD Committee Chair Assessment on metabolic perturbations associated with maternal exposure to phthalates among pregnant African American women

By

Xiaoyue Zhang

Bachelor's Degree of Education Beijing Sport University 2018

Thesis Committee Chair: Donghai Liang, PhD

An abstract of a thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Environmental Health 2021

## Abstract

## Assessment on metabolic perturbations associated with maternal exposure to phthalates among pregnant African American women By Xiaoyue Zhang

**Background:** Phthalates have been linked with numerous harmful health effects. Limited data are available on the molecular mechanism underlying phthalate toxicity on human health. In this analysis, we measured urinary phthalate metabolites and conducted high-resolution metabolomics (HRM) to identify biological perturbations associated with phthalate exposures among pregnant African American (AA) women, who are disproportionately exposed to high phthalates levels.

**Methods:** We used untargeted HRM profiling to characterize serum samples collected during early (8-14 weeks gestation) and late (24-30 weeks gestation) pregnancy from 73 participants from the Atlanta AA Maternal-Child cohort. We measured 8 urinary phthalate metabolites in early and late pregnancy, including Monoethyl phthalate (MEP), Mono-n-butyl phthalate (MBP), Mono(2-ethlyhexyl) phthalate (MEHP), and Mono (2-ethyl-5-hydroxyhexyl phthalate (MEHP), to assess maternal exposures to phthalates. Metabolite and metabolic pathway perturbation were evaluated using an untargeted HRM workflow.

**Results:** Geometric mean creatinine-adjusted levels of urinary MEP, MBP, MEHP, and MEHHP were 67.3, 6.6, 1.4, and 4.1  $\mu$ g/g creatinine, respectively, with MEP and MEHP higher than the mean levels of Non-Hispanic blacks in the general US population (2015-2016). There were 814 and 1,435 metabolic features significantly associated with at least one phthalate metabolites during early and late pregnancy, respectively. Metabolic pathway enrichment analysis revealed perturbations in four inflammation- and oxidative stress-related pathways associated with phthalate metabolite levels during both early and late pregnancy, including glycerophospholipid, urea cycle, arginine, and tyrosine metabolism. We confirmed 10 metabolites associated with MEP, as well as tyramine and phenethylamine, which were positively associated with MEHP and MEHHP.

**Conclusion:** Our results demonstrate that urinary phthalate levels are associated with perturbations in biological pathways connected with inflammation and oxidative stress. The findings support future hypothesis-testing investigations on potential molecular mechanisms underlying the impact of maternal phthalates exposure on adverse health outcomes.

# Assessment on metabolic perturbations associated with maternal exposure to phthalates among pregnant African American women

By

Xiaoyue Zhang

Bachelor's Degree of Education Beijing Sport University 2018

Thesis Committee Chair: Donghai Liang, PhD

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Environmental Health 2021

# Acknowledgement

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor Dr. Donghai Liang for his outstanding support during my MPH training at Emory University and for the opportunity to work in his lab. His guidance and patience helped me in all the time of research on metabolomics and writing of this thesis. His enthusiasm for scientific research also inspired me to insist on research work and pursue Ph.D. training in the future. I could not have imagined having such an excellent advisor for my MPH training.

Besides, I would like to thank the members of Dr. Anne Dunlop's lab for their dedication to sample collection and the members of LEADER Laboratory and Dr. Dean Jones's lab for their contribution to sample measurements and data processing.

My sincere thanks also go to Dr. Dana Barr, Dr. Jeremy Sarnat, Dr. Barry Ryan, Che-Jung Chang, Zhenjiang Li, Youran Tan, and Ziyin Tang for their help in conducting my research on phthalate exposure using high-resolution metabolomics. Moreover, I am grateful to Dr. Tianwei Yu for offering me the internship opportunity in his lab and deepening my understanding of metabolomics.

Lastly, thanks to everyone who listened and supported me talking about phthalate exposure and metabolomics for the past several months, including but not limited to my classmates, families, friends, and roommate.

# Table of Contents

Introduction1
Methods2
Study participants
Phthalate exposure assessments in maternal urine samples
High-resolution metabolomics profiling4
Untargeted metabolome-wide association study (MWAS)4
Metabolic pathway enrichment analysis5
Chemical annotation and metabolite confirmation6
Results
Maternal urinary phthalate metabolites6
Association of phthalate exposure and metabolic profiles in participants
Perturbated metabolic pathways associated with phthalate exposure8
Chemical annotation and confirmation on metabolic features significantly associated with phthalate exposure . 8
Discussion9
Conclusion13
Reference14
Tables18
Figures

#### Introduction

Phthalates, a group of plasticizers used in hundreds of products, <sup>1</sup> have very large consumption around the world. As of 2016, Di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP) was the most frequently used plasticizer, with annual consumption at 3.07 million tons globally <sup>2</sup>. Given that there is no chemical bound with polymer system, phthalates would leak, migrate, or vaporize easily from plastic embodiment into the surrounding environments, when they undergo slight environmental changes <sup>1</sup>. With phthalates' huge production and demands, wide range of uses, and easy leakage from plastic to the environment, humans are frequently exposed to phthalates through ingestion, inhalation, and dermal pathway. In particular, communities of color and the poor, especially African American (AA), are disproportionately exposed to high phthalates exposures, where the geometric mean levels of several urinary phthalate metabolites in Non-Hispanic black group were higher than other race groups<sup>3</sup>.

Phthalate exposures have been associated with numerous negative health effects, including adverse reproductive and birth outcomes <sup>4,5</sup>, neurodevelopment <sup>6</sup>, obesity <sup>7</sup>, diabetes <sup>8</sup>, and asthma <sup>9</sup>. Given that phthalates can penetrate the placenta <sup>10</sup>, many studies have reported a wide range of phthalate-related adverse birth outcomes, including alteration of steroid hormones <sup>11</sup>, decreased anogenital distance (AGD) <sup>12</sup>, preterm birth (defined as gestational age <37 weeks) <sup>5</sup>, altered gestational age <sup>13</sup>, change in body size at birth (birth weight, length, head circumference) <sup>14,15</sup>, and clinical pregnancy loss <sup>16</sup>. Prenatal exposures to phthalates have been linked to systemic inflammation <sup>17</sup>, enhanced oxidative stress <sup>18</sup>, and endocrine disruption <sup>19</sup>, with studies observing increased levels of inflammation biomarker <sup>17</sup> and oxidative stress related factors <sup>18</sup>, enhanced generation of reactive oxygen species, <sup>20</sup>, as well as perturbations in steroid hormones metabolite levels <sup>19</sup>, ultimately contributing to pregnancy loss, preeclampsia, preterm birth, and fetal growth restriction <sup>18</sup>.

Despite these epidemiological observations and limited mechanistic studies, the detailed biological mechanisms and endogenous pathways underlying the toxicity of phthalate exposures on pregnancy and birth outcomes are complex and remain largely unknown, thus limiting the development of interventions. With the advancement in the omics-based technologies, metabolomics, a high-throughput analytical platform capable of quantifying a large number of metabolites from exogenous and endogenous sources, has emerged as a powerful tool to improve internal biological effect and metabolic perturbation estimation to complex environmental exposure. To address these knowledge gaps, we designed and conducted this study, where we measured 8 urinary phthalate metabolites and conducted high-resolution metabolomics (HRM) to identify biological perturbations associated with phthalate slevels. We hypothesized that maternal exposures to phthalates would be associated with altered maternal metabolome, with perturbations centering around endogenous endocrine disruption, inflammation- and oxidative stress-related pathways.

#### Methods

#### **Study participants**

In this analysis, study participants were from the Atlanta African American Maternal-Child Cohort, where pregnant women who self-identify as African American were recruited from the prenatal care clinics of two metropolitan hospitals in Atlanta, GA, including the Grady Memorial Hospital and Emory University Hospital Midtown <sup>21,22</sup>. The cohort inclusion criteria are: 1) self-reported African American; 2) 8-14 weeks' gestation with a singleton pregnancy verified by clinic record and/or ultrasound; 3) 18-40 years old; 4) without current chronic medical condition <sup>21</sup>. Biological samples, including urine for phthalates exposure assessment and serum for metabolomics profiling were collected at the first clinical visit (early pregnancy: 8-14 weeks' gestation) and second clinical visit (late pregnancy: 24-30 weeks' gestation). Socio-demographic data, including age, education, and socioeconomic status, were collected at the first

clinical visit. Health survey data on medication and substance use like tobacco, alcohol and drugs were collected at both clinical visits. Clinic data on parity, pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI), gestational weeks and baby's gender were collected at both clinical visits and post-delivery <sup>21</sup>. We assembler the final analytic database by obtaining the phthalate exposure data, maternal metabolic profiles, sociodemographic, health and clinical data from the existing database generated from the parent study. 73 participants who had both phthalate exposure and metabolic profiling were included in the final analysis. The study was approved by the Emory University Internal Review Board.

#### Phthalate exposure assessments in maternal urine samples

Maternal urinary phthalate exposure levels were analyzed by tandem mass spectrometry on urine samples collected at both clinical visits. We measured eight urinary phthalate metabolites: Monoethyl phthalate (MEP), Mono-n-butyl phthalate (MBP), Monoisobutyl phthalate (MiBP), Monobenzyl phthalate (MBzP), Mono(2-ethyl-5-urbyl) phthalate (MEOHP), Mono (2-ethyl-5-hydroxyhexyl phthalate (MEHP), and Mono(2-ethly-5-carboxypentyl) phthalate (MECPP). The limits of detection (ng/mL) for these phthalates metabolites were 1 (MEP), 4 (MBP), 2 (MiBP), 0.2 (MBzP), 0.2 (MEHP), 0.4 (MEOHP), 0.4 (MEHHP), and 5.25 (MECPP). The values below the limit of detection were assigned the limit of detection divided by the square root of two <sup>23</sup>. Urinary creatinine concentration (mg/dL) was also measured and urinary phthalate levels were divided by creatinine level, adjusting for variability due to urinary dilution <sup>24</sup>. And the molar sum of DEHP metabolites ( $\Sigma$ DEHP) were calculated by the following formula: [(MEHP\*(1/278.34)) + (MEHHP\*(1/294.34)) + (MEOHP\*(1/292.33)) <sup>25</sup>. Although phthalates have short half-live less than 12hr, existing study showed that women's pattern of phthalate exposure may be sufficiently stable to estimate an short-term exposure level based on a single urine measurement <sup>26</sup>.

#### **High-resolution metabolomics profiling**

We conducted high-resolution metabolomics profiling on the maternal serum samples collected at both clinical visits using liquid chromatography coupled with high-resolution metabolomics (LC-HRMS) with established protocol <sup>27-31</sup>. Hydrophilic interaction liquid chromatography (HILIC) column with positive electrospray ionization (ESI) and C18 hydrophobic reversed-phase chromatography column with negative ESI were used to enhance the coverage of metabolic signal detection. We included two quality control pooled reference plasma samples, the pooled human plasma purchased from Equitech Bio and NIST 1950<sup>32</sup>, at the beginning and end of each analytical batch for normalization, batch evaluation, retention time alignment, and *post hoc* quantification. We used ProteoWizard to convert raw LC-HRMS data files to .mzML files, and apLCMS were used to extract metabolic features with modifications of xMSanalyzer <sup>33,34</sup>, which performed peak detection, noise filtering, m/z and retention time alignment, feature quantification, and data quality filtering. Metabolic features were characterized according to their mass-to-charge-ratio (m/z), retention time, and intensity. The intensities of metabolic features were log<sub>2</sub> transformed for the following analysis.

#### Untargeted metabolome-wide association study (MWAS)

In the untargeted MWAS analysis, we examined the association between maternal urinary phthalate metabolites (continuous variable) and metabolic feature intensities (continuous variable) using general linear models, controlling for subject-specific and biological covariates. Because 23.3% MECPP level at the first clinical visit and 39.7% at the second clinical visit could be not detected, we only analyzed other seven phthalate metabolites and sum of DEHP metabolites. The MWAS models had the following form:

 $Log_2 Y_{ij} \sim \mu + \beta_{1j} Phthalate_{ik} + \beta_{2j} Age_i + \beta_{3j} BMI_i + \beta_{4j} Education_i + \beta_{5j} Parity_i + \beta_{6j} Tobacco_i + \beta_{7j} Alcohol_i + \beta_{8j} Marijuana_i + \beta_{9j} Insurance_{ijk} + \beta_{10j} Baby_{ijk} sex_i + \beta_{11j} Gestational_{ijk} age_i + \varepsilon_{ijk}. (1)$ 

Where  $Log_2 Y_{ij}$  refers to the log intensity of metabolic feature / for participant /. Separate models were conducted for each urinary phthalate metabolites, each metabolic feature detected from each technical column (serum HILIC positive ESI, and Serum C18 negative ESI). We conducted the MWAS model on features detected during early and late pregnancy separately. In these models,  $\mu$  is the intercept and *Phthalate* & refers to maternal urinary phthalate metabolites k for each participant /, representing participants' short-term exposures to phthalates during early or late pregnancy. We controlled for potential confounding factors, including age, pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI), education (categorical), parity (categorical), tobacco, alcohol and drug use withing 1 month before each clinical visit (categorical), insurance type (categorical), sex of baby, as well as gestational age at each clinical visit.  $\varepsilon_{ijk}$ represents residual random normal error. We identified significant features using two different levels of statistical significance (p-value: <0.05, and <0.005). Given the multiple testing nature of metabolomics analysis, we also corrected these raw p-values for multiple comparisons using Benjamin-Hochberg false discovery rate (FDR) procedure at two thresholds (q-value: <0.2 and <0.05). The results were presented in Manhattan plots, where x-axis is the retention time of each metabolic feature and y-axis is  $-\log 10(p)$ for  $\beta_1$  from Equation (1). All analyses were performed using R 4.0.2.

#### Metabolic pathway enrichment analysis

We performed pathway identification and module analysis using mummichog<sup>35</sup> (v. 1.0.5) with the cutoff raw p<0.005. Pathway analyses were conducted separately for each set of significant features from each of the urinary phthalate metabolites MWAS models on features detected in the HILIC and C18 columns during early and late pregnancy. An adjusted p for each pathway were calculated from resampling the reference input file in mummichog using a gamma distribution. we classified pathways with adjusted p <0.05 with at least four of the phthalate metabolites models. The results were presented by heat map, where each cell in heat map represented the p-value of associations between each metabolic pathway and each phthalate metabolite. We utilized a reference file for each technical column (C18 negative and

HILIC positive) with file consisting of features with a raw p-value <0.05 as sensitivity analysis. FDRcorrected q-values could not be used due to null findings in the shorter-term exposure windows.

#### Chemical annotation and metabolite confirmation

Metabolic features significantly associated with urinary phthalate metabolites and also enriched in a relevant pathway (p<0.005) were annotated by matching mass m/z value for adducts commonly formed to the METLIN, HMDB, and KEGG databases, using a mass error threshold of 10 ppm. To further minimize false positive match, tentative matches were further screened on their retention time, isotope patterns, and peak quality by examining the extracted ion chromatograph (EIC plots). Finally, we confirmed the chemical identity of the annotated metabolites with level one evidence <sup>36</sup> by comparison of accurate mass m/z, retention time and ion dissociation patterns to the analytical standards.

#### Results

The demographic characteristics of participants are shown in Table 1. Mean age and BMI at first clinical visit were  $25.96 \pm 4.86$  years old and  $28.24 \pm 6.65$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>. More than 20% of the study participants smoked, drank or used drug during pregnancy. Nearly 40% of them were nulliparous. More than half of them were poorly educated and used Medicaid insurance. And 53% of infants were female. Mean gestational age of newborns were  $38.65 \pm 1.55$  weeks. Comparing with those recruited from Emory University Hospital Midtown, the participants from Grady Memorial Hospital were significantly younger, with lower education and economic levels (p-values<0.001).

#### Maternal urinary phthalate metabolites

The detectable rates and the levels of maternal urinary phthalate metabolites at both clinical visits were presented in Table 2. Most of phthalate metabolites had high detectable rates other than MECPP. Geometric mean creatinine-adjusted levels of urinary MEP, MBP, MBP, MBZP, MEHP, MEOHP,

MEHHP and MECPP at first clinical visit were 72.52, 5.98, 5.79, 4.05, 1.33, 2.62, 4.77, and 6.68 µg/g creatinine, respectively; those at the second clinical visit were 62.45, 7.31, 5.58, 4.27, 1.46, 2.74, 3.55, and 5.61 µg/g creatinine, respectively. For MEP, its geometric mean levels at both clinical visits were higher than the geometric mean levels of people age 20 and older as well as the geometric mean levels of Non-Hispanic blacks investigated by U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention between 2015 and 2016<sup>3</sup>. For MBzP, its geometric mean levels at both clinical visits were higher than the geometric mean levels at both clinical visits were higher than the geometric mean levels at both clinical visits were higher than the geometric mean levels at both clinical visits were higher than the geometric mean levels at both clinical visits were higher than the geometric mean levels at 2016. As for MEHP, its geometric mean levels at both clinical visits were higher than the geometric mean levels of Non-Hispanic blacks between 2015 and 2016.

#### Association of phthalate exposure and metabolic profiles in participants

Using LC-HRMS, we detected a total of 29,524 metabolic features in serum samples. Specifically, for serum samples collected at the first clinical visit, 15,310 features were detected in HILIC ESI and 12,812 were detected in C18 ESI; for serum samples collected at the second clinical visit, 15,167 and 12,754 features were detected in HILIC ESI and C18 ESI, respectively. We conducted 32 sets of MWAS models, with 8 maternal urinary phthalate metabolites analyzed among serum metabolic features detected in 2 chromatography columns on samples collected from 2 clinical visits. Only a few metabolic features remain statistically significant after FDR correction, and therefore, we select raw p<0.005 as the significance cutoff for the main statistical analysis. In total, 507 and 337 unique metabolic features were statistically significantly related to at least one or more of phthalate metabolites using HILIC ESI and C18 ESI on samples collected at the first clinical visit, respectively (p-value<0.005). For samples collected at the second clinical visit, the corresponding numbers of significant metabolic features were 801 and 634 in HILIC ESI and C18 ESI, respectively (Table 3).

#### Perturbated metabolic pathways associated with phthalate exposure

Metabolic pathway enrichment analysis revealed 14 metabolic pathways associated with at least four phthalate metabolites on samples collected at the first clinical visit (Figure 1), whereas perturbations in 18 metabolic pathways were observed on features detected at the second clinical visit (Figure 2). Seven pathways consistently appeared to be associated with varying phthalate metabolites models at both clinical visits, including glycerophospholipid metabolism, urea cycle/amino group metabolism, tyrosine metabolism, lysine metabolism, arginine and proline metabolism, aspartate and asparagine metabolism, as well as butanoate metabolism (Figure 3). In addition, 7 pathways were uniquely identified during early pregnancy, with 11 unique pathways observed during late pregnancy.

# Chemical annotation and confirmation on metabolic features significantly associated with phthalate exposure

Finally, we matched the samples with authentic reference standards, verified by tandem mass spectrometry, to confirm the chemical identity of metabolic features that were both associated with the measured phthalates as well as those enriched within phthalate exposure-relevant metabolic pathways. In total, we confirmed the chemical identity of ten metabolic features with level 1 evidence and they were shown in Table 4, with their EIC plots shown in Figure 4. All of these confirmed chemicals were found in samples collected at the second clinical visit during late pregnancy. Specifically, we confirmed five chemicals associated with MEP, where we found negative associations between MEP and 5-oxo-1-proline, thiamine, thyroxine, and pyruvate ( $\beta$ = -0.00006, -0.0004, -0.00008, -0.00010); and positive association between MEP and 5'-deoxyadenosine ( $\beta$ = 0.00019). Octanoylcarnitine was founded to be negatively associated with MBP ( $\beta$ = -0.061), whereas 3-Methoxytyramine was negatively associated with MBZP. Besides, bilirubin was solely positively associated with MEHP ( $\beta$ = 0.079). For DEHP metabolites, phenethylamine and phenylethanolamine-tyramine were found to be associated with increased levels of DEHP metabolites, including hydrolyzed primary DEHP metabolite (MEP), oxidative secondary DEHP metabolites (MEHHP and MEOHP) as well as the molar sum of DEHP metabolites. What's more, we also found a consistent pattern on the coefficients of these DEHP metabolites with the following trend:  $\beta$  ( $\Sigma$ DEHP) >  $\beta$  (MEHP) >  $\beta$  (MEHHP) >  $\beta$  (MEOHP).

#### Discussion

In this analysis, we used targeted phthalates exposure assessment and untargeted MWAS study to examine metabolic perturbations associated with prenatal exposures to phthalates during early and late pregnancy among pregnant African American women. We identified numerous biological pathways and metabolites significantly associated with maternal phthalate exposure. Many of these metabolic signals were closely related to systemic inflammatory response and oxidative stress. Collectively, these findings provide insights on potential molecular mechanism underlying phthalate toxicity on adverse birth outcome. To our knowledge, this constitutes the first untargeted MWAS study examining the biological perturbation associated with prenatal phthalate exposures in maternal serum metabolome.

Among the pathways significantly associated with phthalates exposures during early and late pregnancy, many were closely involved in oxidative stress, acute inflammatory response, and chronic low-grade inflammation, including purine, urea cycle, glycerophospholipid, cytochrome P450, caffeine, pentose phosphate, nicotinate and nicotinamide, arginine and proline, and tyrosine metabolisms<sup>37-47</sup>. Our findings were also consistent with previous study reporting the association between phthalate exposure and biomarkers of inflammation and oxidative stress <sup>17,18</sup>, suggesting that phthalate exposure would disrupt the biological pathways connected with inflammation and oxidative stress. Taken together, these cumulative evidence indicated a causative role of phthalate exposure in inducing systemic inflammation and enhancing oxidative stress, which ultimately lead to preterm birth, pregnancy loss, preeclampsia, and fetal growth restriction <sup>18,48</sup>.

We found that tyrosine metabolism, a pathway closely related to systemic inflammation, was consistently associated with numerous phthalate exposures during both early and late pregnancy, including MBP, MiBP and MEHP during early pregnancy, and DEHP metabolites during late pregnancy. Specifically, four metabolic features in this pathway were confirmed with level 1 evidence, including phenethylamine, tyramine, 3-methoxytyramine and thyroxine, indicating that the phthalate exposures-related metabolic perturbations in maternal metabolome may center around tyrosine metabolism (Figure 5). Among these metabolites, thyroxine was significantly negatively related to MEP. Thyroxine is one of thyroid hormones secreted into the bloodstream by the thyroid gland, which plays important roles in heart and digestive function, metabolism, muscle control, bone health, and brain development. In the early stage of pregnancy, the embryo is completely dependent on maternal thyroid hormones that pass through the placenta, and till about 12-14 weeks gestation, the fetal thyroid function begins <sup>49</sup>. Even after the fetal thyroid gland begins to secrete thyroxine, the thyroxine transferred from the mother still constitutes a part of circulating fetal thyroxine and continues to protect the fetal neurodevelopment until birth <sup>49</sup>. The negative association between MEP and maternal serum level of thyroxine in our study suggests that MEP may have adverse effect on fetal neurodevelopment by decreasing the maternal serum level of thyroxine during late pregnancy. Previous study has reported the endocrine disruption effect of phthalate on pregnant women regarding steroid hormones metabolite including cortisol, a stress hormone, estradiol and testosterone, hormones <sup>50</sup>. And our result revealed another new perspective of endocrine disruption effect of phthalate on thyroid hormones. Besides, we observed a significantly positive association between tyramine and DEHP metabolites. Tyramine is an amino acid related to increasing cardiac output, respiration and blood glucose, releasing norepinephrine as well as peripheral vasoconstriction<sup>51</sup>. Obayomi's animal study reported that tyramine and its specific receptor TAAR1 are located in the uterus of mice, and this monoamine can induce uterine contractions, and its effect is similar to oxytocin <sup>51</sup>. In an epidemiologic study, Ferguson et al. found that  $\sum$ DEHP were associated with increased odds of preterm birth<sup>5</sup>. These previous findings, together with our observations, indicated a potential mechanistic pathway underlying how DEHP would lead to preterm birth. In addition to tyramine, we also found that

phenethylamine was positively associated with DEHP metabolites. Phenethylamine is a phenylalanine derivate in brain. Mazumder's molecular docking model demonstrated that phenethylamine could increase the generation of reactive oxygen species <sup>52</sup>. And Capuron et al. suggested that inflammation was positively associated with phenylalanine at the expense of tyrosine <sup>43</sup>. All these observations supported that phthalate exposures may lead to adverse health outcome through inflammation and oxidative stress by inducing perturbations in metabolic pathways centering around tyrosine metabolism.

Interestingly, we found that the coefficient of hydrolyzed primary metabolite of DEHP (MEP) is higher than those of oxidative secondary metabolites of DEHP (MEHHP and MEOHP), which suggested that oxidative DEHP metabolites might be less toxic than hydrolyzed DEHP metabolites. This was in consistent with Hauser's study, where urinary MEHP levels were found to be significantly positively associated with sperm DNA damage in male, while the urinary MEHHP and MEOHP levels were significantly negatively associated with sperm DNA damage, indicating that DEHP oxidative metabolites may be less toxic <sup>4</sup>. Thus, individual vulnerability and sensitivity to DEHP exposure may depend on the individual functionality of the phase one enzymes to hydrolyze DEHP.

Besides confirming the features enriched in the tyrosine metabolism, we also confirmed bilirubin with level one evidence, where our data showed a positive association between serum bilirubin and increase in MEHP level. The biochemical function and toxicity of bilirubin have always been controversial. In previous study, the function of this endogenous compound was reported inconsistently. Some previous studies have demonstrated the neurotoxicity of unconjugated bilirubin (UCB) in preterm neonate suggesting that gestational age-specific free bilirubin level may increase the risk of bilirubin-induced neurotoxicity in premature infants <sup>53-55</sup>, while many studies showed its antioxidant properties in vitro and in animal <sup>56,57</sup>. There are two potential explanations for the increasing level of bilirubin in our result. First, DEHP exposure may have adverse effect on neurodevelopment in newborn by increasing level of bilirubin is not effective as an antioxidant in human being. Previous study has

corroborated this explanation. Dani et al observed the increase in plasma antioxidant capacity with the decrease plasma level of bilirubin in preterm birth <sup>58</sup>. Further studies are required to confirm our speculations.

In addition to the above metabolic features which were significantly associated with several phthalate metabolites, we observed perturbations in thiamine metabolism associated with MEP during late pregnancy. Correspondingly, we confirmed the identify of thiamine in HILIC ESI and that of pyruvate in C18 ESI with level one confidence, which were both negatively associated with MEP during late pregnancy. Thiamine is an essential vitamin which cannot be synthesized in human body and require exogenous source. Thiamin is absorbed into cells by specific transporters and is converted into active thiamine pyrophosphate (TPP) by thiamine pyrophosphokinase (TPK) in the cytoplasm, from which it can be transported to the mitochondria, and there TPP serves as a cofactor for three distinct ketoacid dehydrogenases including pyruvate dehydrogenase complex,  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase and branched-chain  $\alpha$ -keto acid dehydrogenase <sup>59</sup>. One of the key enzymes of glucose metabolism is pyruvate dehydrogenase<sup>60</sup>. Shaffer et al. found that the maternal urinary level of T1T3avg MEP (average of first and third trimester MEP concentrations) was positively associated with gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM)<sup>61</sup>. And Bartáková et al. observed that the plasma levels of BMI-adjusted thiamine in women with GDM in mid-trimester were significantly lower than control groups <sup>62</sup>. Our finding suggested that thiamine may serve as a mediator in the association between MEP and GDM, and provided a potential mechanism of MEP leading to GDM that Diethyl phthalate (DEP) exposure could alter glucose metabolism by disturbing thiamine metabolism and incease the risk of GDM during late pregnancy.

There are several limitations in this study. First, the cross-sectional nature of the current analysis precludes the ability to make any causal inferences about the association between maternal phthalates exposure and biological perturbations. Second, although we control for several important confounding factors, we were not able to adjust for the impact of diurnal pattern, which may have effect on intra-

individual variation in response to phthalate exposure and in phthalate metabolism. Third, using untargeted high-resolution metabolomics method, we can only confirm the metabolites in the limited reference standards. Thus, we may miss numerous significant metabolites related to both adverse health outcomes and phthalate exposure. Moreover, we used raw p-value instead of using FDR correction to select significant metabolic features to conduct pathway analysis using mummichog, there might be false discoveries on significant features due to multiple evaluation in a single experiment, Finally, our study had limited sample size focused on pregnant African American women. Therefore, our results may not be generalizable to other population.

#### Conclusion

With the help of highly sensitive platform, untargeted HRM, our results demonstrate that urinary phthalate levels are associated with perturbations in biological pathways closely connected with inflammation and oxidative stress. Besides, we also found that DEP exposure during late pregnancy is related to decreasing maternal level of thyroxine and thiamine. And DEHP exposure during late pregnancy is associated with increasing maternal level of tyramine and phenethylamine. The findings support future hypothesis-testing investigations on potential molecular mechanisms underlying the impact of maternal phthalates exposure on adverse health outcomes.

# Reference

- 1. Benjamin S, Masai E, Kamimura N, Takahashi K, Anderson RC, Faisal PA. Phthalates impact human health: epidemiological evidences and plausible mechanism of action. *Journal of hazardous materials.* 2017;340:360-383.
- 2. Global demand for plasticizers continues to rise. *Additives for Polymers.* 2017;2017(10):10-11.
- 3. Fourth national report on human exposure to environmental chemicals: updated tables, January 2019, Volume one. 2019.
- Hauser R, Meeker J, Singh N, et al. DNA damage in human sperm is related to urinary levels of phthalate monoester and oxidative metabolites. *Human Reproduction*. 2007;22(3):688-695.
- 5. Ferguson KK, McElrath TF, Meeker JD. Environmental phthalate exposure and preterm birth. *JAMA pediatrics*. 2014;168(1):61-67.
- 6. Kim B-N, Cho S-C, Kim Y, et al. Phthalates exposure and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in school-age children. *Biological psychiatry*. 2009;66(10):958-963.
- Buser MC, Murray HE, Scinicariello F. Age and sex differences in childhood and adulthood obesity association with phthalates: analyses of NHANES 2007–2010. International journal of hygiene and environmental health. 2014;217(6):687-694.
- 8. James-Todd T, Stahlhut R, Meeker JD, et al. Urinary phthalate metabolite concentrations and diabetes among women in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2001–2008. *Environmental health perspectives*. 2012;120(9):1307-1313.
- 9. Bertelsen RJ, Carlsen KCL, Calafat AM, et al. Urinary biomarkers for phthalates associated with asthma in Norwegian children. *Environmental health perspectives*. 2013;121(2):251-256.
- 10. Huang P-C, Kuo P-L, Chou Y-Y, Lin S-J, Lee C-C. Association between prenatal exposure to phthalates and the health of newborns. *Environment International.* 2009;35(1):14-20.
- 11. Lin L-C, Wang S-L, Chang Y-C, et al. Associations between maternal phthalate exposure and cord sex hormones in human infants. *Chemosphere*. 2011;83(8):1192-1199.
- 12. Swan SH, Main KM, Liu F, et al. Decrease in anogenital distance among male infants with prenatal phthalate exposure. *Environmental health perspectives*. 2005;113(8):1056-1061.
- 13. Whyatt RM, Adibi JJ, Calafat AM, et al. Prenatal di (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate exposure and length of gestation among an inner-city cohort. *Pediatrics.* 2009;124(6):e1213-e1220.
- 14. Wolff MS, Engel SM, Berkowitz GS, et al. Prenatal phenol and phthalate exposures and birth outcomes. *Environmental health perspectives*. 2008;116(8):1092-1097.
- Zhang Y, Lin L, Cao Y, Chen B, Zheng L, Ge R-S. Phthalate levels and low birth weight: a nested case-control study of Chinese newborns. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 2009;155(4):500-504.
- 16. Mu D, Gao F, Fan Z, Shen H, Peng H, Hu J. Levels of phthalate metabolites in urine of pregnant women and risk of clinical pregnancy loss. *Environmental science & technology*. 2015;49(17):10651-10657.

- 17. Ferguson KK, Loch-Caruso R, Meeker JD. Urinary phthalate metabolites in relation to biomarkers of inflammation and oxidative stress: NHANES 1999–2006. *Environmental research*. 2011;111(5):718-726.
- 18. Ferguson KK, McElrath TF, Chen Y-H, Mukherjee B, Meeker JD. Urinary phthalate metabolites and biomarkers of oxidative stress in pregnant women: a repeated measures analysis. *Environmental health perspectives*. 2015;123(3):210-216.
- 19. Marie C, Vendittelli F, Sauvant-Rochat M-P. Obstetrical outcomes and biomarkers to assess exposure to phthalates: a review. *Environment international.* 2015;83:116-136.
- 20. Tetz LM, Cheng AA, Korte CS, et al. Mono-2-ethylhexyl phthalate induces oxidative stress responses in human placental cells in vitro. *Toxicology and applied pharmacology*. 2013;268(1):47-54.
- 21. Corwin EJ, Hogue CJ, Pearce B, et al. Protocol for the Emory University African American vaginal, oral, and gut microbiome in pregnancy cohort study. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth.* 2017;17(1):161.
- 22. Brennan PA, Dunlop AL, Smith AK, Kramer M, Mulle J, Corwin EJ. Protocol for the Emory University African American maternal stress and infant gut microbiome cohort study. *BMC pediatrics.* 2019;19(1):246.
- 23. Messerlian C, Wylie BJ, Minguez-Alarcon L, et al. Urinary concentrations of phthalate metabolites in relation to pregnancy loss among women conceiving with medically assisted reproduction. *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass).* 2016;27(6):879.
- 24. O'Brien KM, Upson K, Buckley JP. Lipid and creatinine adjustment to evaluate health effects of environmental exposures. *Current environmental health reports.* 2017;4(1):44-50.
- 25. Zhao Y, Shi Hj, Xie Cm, Chen J, Laue H, Zhang Yh. Prenatal phthalate exposure, infant growth, and global DNA methylation of human placenta. *Environmental and molecular mutagenesis*. 2015;56(3):286-292.
- Hoppin JA, Brock JW, Davis BJ, Baird DD. Reproducibility of urinary phthalate metabolites in first morning urine samples. *Environmental health perspectives*. 2002;110(5):515-518.
- 27. Ladva CN, Golan R, Greenwald R, et al. Metabolomic profiles of plasma, exhaled breath condensate, and saliva are correlated with potential for air toxics detection. *Journal of breath research*. 2017;12(1):016008.
- 28. Ladva CN, Golan R, Liang D, et al. Particulate metal exposures induce plasma metabolome changes in a commuter panel study. *PloS one.* 2018;13(9):e0203468.
- 29. Li Z, Liang D, Ye D, et al. Application of high-resolution metabolomics to identify biological pathways perturbed by traffic-related air pollution. *Environmental Research*. 2021;193:110506.
- 30. Liang D, Ladva CN, Golan R, et al. Perturbations of the arginine metabolome following exposures to traffic-related air pollution in a panel of commuters with and without asthma. *Environment international.* 2019;127:503-513.
- 31. Liang D, Moutinho JL, Golan R, et al. Use of high-resolution metabolomics for the identification of metabolic signals associated with traffic-related air pollution. *Environment international.* 2018;120:145-154.

- Simon-Manso Y, Lowenthal MS, Kilpatrick LE, et al. Metabolite profiling of a NIST Standard Reference Material for human plasma (SRM 1950): GC-MS, LC-MS, NMR, and clinical laboratory analyses, libraries, and web-based resources. *Analytical chemistry*. 2013;85(24):11725-11731.
- 33. Uppal K, Soltow QA, Strobel FH, et al. xMSanalyzer: automated pipeline for improved feature detection and downstream analysis of large-scale, non-targeted metabolomics data. *BMC bioinformatics.* 2013;14(1):15.
- 34. Yu T, Park Y, Johnson JM, Jones DP. apLCMS—adaptive processing of high-resolution LC/MS data. *Bioinformatics*. 2009;25(15):1930-1936.
- 35. Li S, Park Y, Duraisingham S, et al. Predicting network activity from high throughput metabolomics. *PLoS Comput Biol.* 2013;9(7):e1003123.
- 36. Morrison N, Bearden D, Bundy JG, et al. Standard reporting requirements for biological samples in metabolomics experiments: environmental context. *Metabolomics*. 2007;3(3):203-210.
- 37. Veith A, Moorthy B. Role of cytochrome p450s in the generation and metabolism of reactive oxygen species. *Current opinion in toxicology.* 2018;7:44-51.
- 38. Liu J, Wang C, Liu F, Lu Y, Cheng J. Metabonomics revealed xanthine oxidase-induced oxidative stress and inflammation in the pathogenesis of diabetic nephropathy. *Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry.* 2015;407(9):2569-2579.
- 39. Morgan E. Impact of infectious and inflammatory disease on cytochrome P450– mediated drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics.* 2009;85(4):434-438.
- 40. Peiró C, Romacho T, Azcutia V, et al. Inflammation, glucose, and vascular cell damage: the role of the pentose phosphate pathway. *Cardiovascular diabetology.* 2016;15(1):1-15.
- 41. Cao Y-F, Li J, Zhang Z, et al. Plasma levels of amino acids related to urea cycle and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus in Chinese Adults. *Frontiers in endocrinology.* 2019;10:50.
- 42. Zhu T, Li S, Wang J, et al. Induced sputum metabolomic profiles and oxidative stress are associated with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) severity: potential use for predictive, preventive, and personalized medicine. *EPMA Journal.* 2020;11(4):645-659.
- 43. Capuron L, Schroecksnadel S, Féart C, et al. Chronic low-grade inflammation in elderly persons is associated with altered tryptophan and tyrosine metabolism: role in neuropsychiatric symptoms. *Biological psychiatry*. 2011;70(2):175-182.
- 44. Satriano J. Arginine pathways and the inflammatory response: interregulation of nitric oxide and polyamines. *Amino acids.* 2004;26(4):321-329.
- 45. Nehlig A. Interindividual differences in caffeine metabolism and factors driving caffeine consumption. *Pharmacological reviews.* 2018;70(2):384-411.
- 46. Rizvi A, Yousf S, Balakrishnan K, et al. Metabolomics studies to decipher stress responses in mycobacterium smegmatis point to a putative pathway of methylated amine biosynthesis. *Journal of bacteriology.* 2019;201(15):e00707-00718.
- 47. Tauler P, Martinez S, Moreno C, Monjo M, Martinez P, Aguilo A. Effects of caffeine on the inflammatory response induced by a 15-km run competition. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2013;45(7):1269-1276.

- 48. Ferguson KK, McElrath TF, Chen Y-H, Loch-Caruso R, Mukherjee B, Meeker JD. Repeated measures of urinary oxidative stress biomarkers during pregnancy and preterm birth. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology.* 2015;212(2):208. e201-208. e208.
- 49. Oken E, Braverman LE, Platek D, Mitchell ML, Lee SL, Pearce EN. Neonatal thyroxine, maternal thyroid function, and child cognition. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism.* 2009;94(2):497-503.
- 50. Zhou M, Ford B, Lee D, et al. Metabolomic markers of phthalate exposure in plasma and urine of pregnant women. *Frontiers in public health.* 2018;6:298.
- 51. Obayomi SB. *The Function of Tyramine in the Mouse Uterine Horn.* Arizona State University; 2017.
- 52. Mazumder MK, Paul R, Borah A. β-Phenethylamine—A Phenylalanine Derivative in Brain—Contributes to Oxidative Stress by Inhibiting Mitochondrial Complexes and DT-Diaphorase: An In Silico Study. *CNS neuroscience & therapeutics.* 2013;19(8):596-602.
- 53. Amin SB. Clinical assessment of bilirubin-induced neurotoxicity in premature infants. Paper presented at: Seminars in perinatology2004.
- 54. Stevenson DK, Vreman HJ, Wong RJ. Bilirubin production and the risk of bilirubin neurotoxicity. Paper presented at: Seminars in perinatology2011.
- 55. Ostrow JD, Pascolo L, Brites D, Tiribelli C. Molecular basis of bilirubin-induced neurotoxicity. *Trends in molecular medicine.* 2004;10(2):65-70.
- 56. Stocker R, Yamamoto Y, McDonagh AF, Glazer AN, Ames BN. Bilirubin is an antioxidant of possible physiological importance. *Science*. 1987;235(4792):1043-1046.
- 57. Yamaguchi T, Terakado M, Horio F, Aoki K, Tanaka M, Nakajima H. Role of bilirubin as an antioxidant in an ischemia–reperfusion of rat liver and induction of heme oxygenase. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications.* 1996;223(1):129-135.
- 58. Dani C, Martelli E, Bertini G, et al. Plasma bilirubin level and oxidative stress in preterm infants. *Archives of Disease in Childhood-Fetal and Neonatal Edition*. 2003;88(2):F119-F123.
- 59. Mayr JA, Freisinger P, Schlachter K, et al. Thiamine pyrophosphokinase deficiency in encephalopathic children with defects in the pyruvate oxidation pathway. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*. 2011;89(6):806-812.
- 60. Bakker S, Ter Maaten J, Gans R. Thiamine supplementation to prevent induction of low birth weight by conventional therapy for gestational diabetes mellitus. *Medical hypotheses.* 2000;55(1):88-90.
- 61. Shaffer RM, Ferguson KK, Sheppard L, et al. Maternal urinary phthalate metabolites in relation to gestational diabetes and glucose intolerance during pregnancy. *Environment international*. 2019;123:588-596.
- 62. Bartáková V, Pleskačová A, Kuricová K, et al. Dysfunctional protection against advanced glycation due to thiamine metabolism abnormalities in gestational diabetes. *Glycoconjugate journal.* 2016;33(4):591-598.

18

Table 1. Characteristics of participants												
Characteristics	Overall	Grady Memorial	Emory University	p-value <sup>a</sup>								
	(N=73)	Hospital (N=46)	Hospital Midtown									
A co [voors] moon (SD)	25.06 (4.86)	24 67 (4 24)	(1 - 27)	0.005**								
Age [years], mean (SD)	23.90 (4.80)	24.07 (4.24)	28.13(3.13) 28.50(6.12)	0.003**								
Bivit (kg/m <sup>-</sup> ), mean (SD)	28.24 (0.03)	28.09 (7.00)	28.30 (0.13)	0.728								
Parity, II (%)	21(42)	20(42)	11 (41)									
Nonnullingrous	51(42)	20 (43)	11(41) 16(50)	0.951								
$E$ here the $\mu$ (0/)	41 (30)	23 (34)	10 (39)									
Education, n (%)	41 (5()	27 (90)	4 (15)									
High school or less	41 (56)	$\frac{3}{(80)}$	4 (15)	<0.001**								
Ondergraduate	20(27)	7 (15)	13 (48)	<0.001**								
Graduate	12 (16)	2(5)	10(37)									
Insurance type, n (%)		45 (00)	11 (41)									
Medicaid	56 (77) 17 (22)	45 (98)	11 (41)	<0.001**								
Private insurance	17 (23)	1 (2)	16 (59)									
Baby sex, n (%)	20 (52)	22 (50)	1 ( (50)									
Female	39 (53)	23 (50)	16 (59)	0.601								
Male	34 (47)	23 (50)	11 (41)									
Tobacco use, n (%)												
Clinical visit 1 (Yes)	10 (14)	9 (20)	1 (4)	0.148								
Clinical visit 1 (No)	60 (82)	37 (80)	23 (85)	01110								
Clinical visit 2 (Yes)	3 (4)	3 (7)	0 (0)	0 549								
Clinical visit 2 (No)	66 (90)	41 (89)	25 (93)	0.0 17								
Alcohol use, n (%)												
Clinical visit 1 (Yes)	5 (7)	4 (9)	1 (4)	0.652								
Clinical visit 1 (No)	64 (88)	41 (89)	23 (85)	0.052								
Clinical visit 2 (Yes)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)									
Clinical visit 2 (No)	69 (95)	44 (96)	25 (93)	-								
Marijuana use, n (%)												
Clinical visit 1 (Yes)	16 (22)	15 (33)	1 (4)	0.006**								
Clinical visit 1 (No)	53 (73)	30 (65)	23 (85)	0.000								
Clinical visit 2 (Yes)	visit 2 (Yes) $2(3)$ $2(4)$		0 (0)	0.528								
Clinical visit 2 (No)	66 (90)	41 (89)	25 (93)									
Gestational age (week), me	an (SD)	· ·										
Clinical visit 1	11.59 (2.20)	11.30 (2.35)	12.07 (1.85)	0.094								
Clinical visit 2	25.74 (1.58)	25.60 (1.54)	25.98 (1.64)	0.277								
Post-delivery	38.65 (1.55)	38.45 (1.66)	38.99 (1.31)	0.14								

<sup>a</sup> Mann-Whitney U Test, Pearson's Chi-squared test or Fisher's Exact Test \*\*P<0.01

Sample size (73)	I	First cli	nical visit	Sec	ond clin	ical visit	Fourth national report on human exposure to environmental chemicals <sup>3</sup>				
	% Detect	GM	IQR (25 <sup>th</sup> , 75 <sup>th</sup> )	% Detect	GM	IQR (25 <sup>th</sup> , 75 <sup>th</sup> )	Age≥20 (2015-2016) GM	Non-Hispanic blacks (2015- 2016) GM			
MEP	100	72.5	29.62, 161.27	100	62.45	28.6,91.54	35.9	54.9			
MBP	83.6	5.98	3.39, 11.58	86.3	7.31	4.34, 11.95	9.36	10.9			
MiBP	82.3	5.79	3.52, 11.97	86.3	5.58	3.58, 10.10	8.03	9.29			
MBzP	100	4.05	2.12, 7.09	98.6	4.27	1.88, 7.56	3.87	5.57			
MEHP	87.7	1.33	0.61, 3.62	91.8	1.46	0.74, 2.78	#	1.27			
MEOHP	97.3	2.62	1.44, 5.24	95.9	2.74	1.71, 4.59	3.36	3.66			
MEHHP	100	4.77	2.26, 8.14	95.9	3.55	2.15, 5.74	5.40	5.96			
MECPP	75.7	6.68	3.29, 12.22	60.3	5.61	3.41, 8.73	8.28	8.51			
∑DEHP <sup>a</sup>	-	0.03	0.02, 0.06	-	0.03	0.02, 0.05	-	-			

Table 2. Creatinine-adjusted phthalate metabolite concentrations (µg/g) of study participants

Acronym: GM, geometric mean; IQR, interquartile range <sup>a</sup>DEHP is the molar sum of MEHP, MEHHP, and MEOHP. # Not calculated: proportion of results below limit of detection was too high to provide a valid result.

Table 3. Number of significant metabolic features (p-value<0.005) associated with phthalate exposure in
technical column

Clinical visit & technical column	Total number of features extracted	MEP	MBP	MiBP	MBzP	MEHP	МЕОНР	МЕННР	∑DEHP	Number of unique features <sup>a</sup>
Visit 1- HILIC	15310	70	117	93	97	100	67	47	63	507
Visit 1- C18	12812	57	49	57	81	47	46	44	44	337
Visit 2- HILIC	15167	403	92	53	124	85	95	87	98	801
Visit 2- C18	12754	231	91	36	158	77	100	97	95	634

<sup>a</sup> Number of unique metabolic features that were statistically significantly associated with at least one or more phthalate metabolites.

	(p-value	<0.003) III tills study.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·						
Annotated metabolites	Adduct form	Pathways	Associated phthalate metabolites <sup>c</sup> & mean change <sup>b</sup> (95% confidence intervals)						
Phenethylamine	M+H	Tyrosine metabolism	MEHP $\beta$ = 0.121 (0.092, 0.176) MEHP $\beta$ = 0.039 (0.032, 0.052) MEOHP $\beta$ = 0.037 (0.030, 0.050) ΣDEHP $\beta$ = 4.934 (4.016, 6.630)						
5-oxo-l-proline	M+H	Aspartate and asparagine metabolism	$\overrightarrow{\text{MEP}} \beta = -0.00006 (-0.00008, 0.00002)$						
Tyramine	M+H	Tyrosine metabolism	MEHP $\beta$ = 0.110 (0.076, 0.175) MEHHP $\beta$ = 0.039 (0.030, 0.054) MEOHP $\beta$ = 0.038 (0.030, 0.053) ΣDEHP $\beta$ = 4.924 (3.847, 6.914)						
Phenylethanolamine	M+H	Urea cycle metabolism	MEHP $β$ = 0.110 (0.076, 0.175) MEHHP $β$ = 0.039 (0.030, 0.054) MEOHP $β$ = 0.038 (0.030, 0.053) ΣDEHP $β$ = 4.924 (3.847, 6.914)						
3-Methoxytyramine	M+H	Tyrosine metabolism	$\overline{\text{MBzP}}\beta = -0.014 \ (-0.019, -0.005)$						
5'-deoxyadenosine	M+H	Urea cycle metabolism	MEP $\beta$ = 0.00019 (0.00015,0.00025)						
Thiamine (B1)	M+H	Thiamin metabolism	MEP $\beta$ = -0.0004 (-0.0005, -0.0002)						
Octanoylcarnitine	M+H	Mitochondrial Beta- Oxidation of Short Chain Saturated Fatty Acids	MBP <i>β</i> = -0.061 (-0.080, -0.026)						
Bilirubin	M+H	Porphyrin Metabolism	MEHP $\beta$ = 0.079 (0.052, 0.131)						
Thyroxine	M+H	Tyrosine Metabolism	MEP $\beta$ = -0.00008 (-0.00010, -0.00004)						
Pyruvate	M-H	Pyruvate Metabolism; Tyrosine metabolism; Thiamin metabolism; Methionine and cysteine metabolism; Pyrimidine metabolism; Purine metabolism; Glycine, serine, alanine and threonine metabolism; Arginine and Proline Metabolism; Butanoate metabolism; Glycolysis and Gluconeogenesis; Aminosugars metabolism; Glutamate metabolism; Carbon fixation; Alanine and Aspartate	MEP β= -0.00010 (-0.00013, -0.00005)						
	Thyroxine Pyruvate	Thyroxine M+H Pyruvate M-H	ThyroxineM+HTyrosine MetabolismPyruvateM-HPyruvate Metabolism; Tyrosine metabolism; Methionine and cysteine metabolism; Pyrimidine metabolism; Pyrimidine metabolism; Glycine, serine, alanine and threonine metabolism; Arginine and Proline Metabolism; Butanoate metabolism; Glycolysis and Gluconeogenesis; Aminosugars metabolism; Glutamate metabolism; Carbon fixation; Alanine and Aspartate Metabolism						

 Table 4. Chemical identity a of the metabolic features significantly associated with phthalate metabolites (p-value<0.005) in this study.</th>

Acronym: m/z, mass to charge ratio; RT, retention time.

<sup>a</sup> Chemical identification on the candidate metabolic features was conducted by matching peaks by accurate mass and retention time to authentic reference standards in an in-house library run under identical conditions using tandem mass spectrometry. <sup>b</sup>  $\beta$  were adjusted for age (years), BMI at first clinical visit (kg/m2), Parity, insurance type, baby's gender, gestational age at each clinical, tobacco, alcohol and drug use withing 1 month before clinical visit

<sup>c</sup> All identified metabolites were during late pregnancy

\*There were multiple pure peaks on its EIC plot.

# Figures

First clinical visit		HILC										<u>C18</u>								
Metabolic Pathways	Number of overlapping features #	Number of metabolites in pathway ^	MEP	MBP	MiBP	MBzP	MEHP	MEOHP	MEHHP	∑ DEHP	MEP	MBP	MiBP	MBzP	MEHP	MEOHP	MEHHP	∑ DEHP		
Glycerophospholipid metabolism	3	46																		
Urea cycle/amino group metabolism	4	51																		
Purine metabolism	3	63																		
Tyrosine metabolism	5	97																		
Vitamin B3 (nicotinate and nicotinamide) metabolism	3	23																		
Vitamin B6 (pyridoxine) metabolism	3	7																		
Drug metabolism - cytochrome P450	5	50																		
Lysine metabolism	3	27																		
Arginine and Proline Metabolism	3	38																		
Aspartate and asparagine metabolism	4	70																		
Butanoate metabolism	3	26																		
Pentose phosphate pathway	3	37																		
Pyrimidine metabolism	4	58																		
			-															_		
p-value: 0	0.05				0.1									0.2				1		

**Fig1.** Metabolic pathways associated with  $\geq$ 4 phthalate metabolites models at the first clinical visit. Cells were colored according to the strength (i.e. p-value) of the association between each of metabolic pathways and significant features (p-value< 0.005) that were associated with phthalate metabolites. Pathways are ranked according to the total number of the significant pathway-phthalate metabolites associations (p < 0.05) in the HILIC column and the C18 column.

^Average number of metabolites within the specific metabolic pathway on significant models.

#Number of metabolic features in the samples with m/z matched to the metabolites within the specific metabolic pathway.



**Fig2.** Metabolic pathways associated with  $\geq$ 4 phthalate metabolites models at the second clinical visit. Cells were colored according to the strength (i.e. p-value) of the association between each of metabolic pathways and significant features (p-value< 0.005) that were associated with phthalate metabolites. Pathways are ranked according to the total number of the significant pathway-phthalate metabolites associations (p < 0.05) in the HILIC column and the C18 column.

^ Average number of metabolites within the specific metabolic pathway on significant models.

#Number of metabolic features in the samples with m/z matched to the metabolites within the specific metabolic pathway.



Fig3. Venn diagram of metabolic pathways related to phthalate exposure in pregnant African American women during early and late pregnancy.



**Fig 4.** The extracted ion chromatograph of identified chemicals. The metabolites were considered to be acceptable for chemical identification that had one or multiple pure peaks.



**Fig5.** Confirmed metabolites with level one confidence in the Tyrosine Metabolism pathway associated with maternal phthalate exposure: positive association (red) and negative association (green). Acronym: TPO, Thyroid peroxidase; AADC, aromatic l-amino acid decarboxylase; TH, tyrosine hydroxylase; SULT, Sulfotransferase; COMT, Catechol-O-methyltransferase